IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.) S.CT. NO. 17-1351
STEPHON TRAVELL CURRY,	
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JOHNSON COUNTY HONORABLE PAUL D. MILLER, AND HONORABLE KEVIN MCKEEVER, JUDGES

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

BRENDA J. GOHR Assistant Appellate Defender bgohr@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ASSESSING FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS TO CURRY WITHOUT FIRST MAKING A CONSTITUTIONALLY MANDATED DETERMINATION OF HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Thompson, 856 N.W.2d 915, 919 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code § 910.2 (2017)

Iowa Code § 910.3 (2017)

Iowa Code § 910.5 (2017)

Iowa Code § 910.7 (2017)

State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Janz, 358 N.W.2d 547 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Kaelin, 362 N.W.2d 526, 528 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Blank, 570 N.W.2d 924 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Jackson, 601 N.W.2d 354 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Swartz, 601 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 1999)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Campbell, No. 15-1181, 2016 WL 4543763, at *2 nt. 2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2017)

State v. Coleman, --N.W.2d --, 2018 WL 672132 (Iowa Feb. 2, 2018)

State v. Bradley, 637 N.W.2d 206, 212-213 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001)

State v. Kurtz, 878 N.W.2d 469, 471 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Johnson, 887 N.W.2d 178, 183

(Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

Iowa Code § 910.4 (2017)

State v. Alexander, No. 16-0669, 2017 WL 510950, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 8, 2017)

State v. Storrs, 351 N.W.2d 520, 522 (Iowa 1984)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.23(3)(d) (2017)

State v. McGonigle, 401 N.W.2d 39, 43 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Johnson, 445 N.W.2d 337, 343 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Hill, 878 N.W.2d 269 (Iowa 2016)

II. DID THE COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT SENTENCED CURRY TO THE MAXIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCE?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.4

State v. Thomas, 547 N.W.2d 223, 225 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Wright, 340 N.W.2d 590, 592 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Loyd, 530 N.W.2d 708, 713 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Johnson, 513 N.W.2d 717, 719 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Code § 901.5

State v. Hildebrand, 280 N.W.2d 393, 395 (Iowa 1979)

State v. August, 589 N.W.2d 740, 744 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Dvorsky, 322 N.W.2d 62, 67 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440, 445 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Jason, 779 N.W.2d 66, 76 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009)

Iowa Code § 902.12(3) (2017)

Iowa Code § 901.11(3) (2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues presented on appeal require clarification of existing Supreme Court precedent or overturning such precedent. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, Curry requests this Court clarify the existing law surrounding when the determination of the defendant's reasonable ability to pay is required to be made, and overturn State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647 (Iowa 1987), and State v. Kaelin, 362 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 1985), and require the sentencing courts to explicitly state the reasons on the record considered by the court when determining the defendant's reasonable ability to pay.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Appellant Stephon Curry appeals following his guilty plea, conviction, and sentence for: Robbery in the Second Degree, a Class C forcible felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 711.1(1)(b) and 711.3.

Course of Proceedings: On April 6, 2017, the State charged Curry with Robbery in the First Degree, a Class B felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 711.1(1)(B) and 711.2; and Theft in the Fourth Degree, a serious misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code sections 714.1(1) and 714.2(4). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 7-9).

On June 1, 2017, Curry pled guilty to the lesser included offense of Robbery in the Second Degree, a Class C forcible felony, in violation of Iowa code sections 711.1(1)(b) and 711.3. (Plea Tr. p. 2 L7-p. 3 L11; Order for PSI) (App. pp. 10-11). The agreement dismissed the second charge with costs assessed to Curry, and the State concurring with the sentencing agreement in the PSI. (Plea Tr. p. 2 L20-p. 3 L5).

On June 2, 2017, a second plea hearing was held to discuss the financial ramifications of Curry's guilty plea. (Financial Hearing Tr. p. 3 L6-15; Order re: Financial Penalties) (App. pp. 12-13).

On July 31, 2017, Curry was sentenced to an indeterminate term of confinement not to exceed 10 years,

with a mandatory minimum of seventy percent, a fine of \$1000 with appropriate surcharges-suspended, and court costs. The Court ordered the State to submit victim pecuniary damages within 30 days of sentencing. The court also found that the Defendant was unable to pay for attorney fees and waived them. The Court indicated that all sums were due and payable by August 30, 2017. (Sent. Tr. p. 8 L7-p. 9 L24; Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 14-16).

On August 24, 2017, the defendant filed a pro se motion requesting the court to reconsider the amount of mandatory time the defendant would have to serve. (Pro se Motion) (App. p. 17).

On August 24, 2017, the defendant filed a pro se notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 18).

On September 1, 2017, the court denied the defendant's motion. (Order-Denial of Motion) (App. pp. 28-29).

Facts: The minutes of testimony establish the following: On or about March 26, 2017, Curry ran up to S.B. and punched S.B. in the head several times. Curry took S.B.'s

pink iPhone and fled the scene. (Plea Tr. p. 10 L9-p. 12 L15; Minutes) (Conf. App. pp. 5-7).

Other relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ASSESSING FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS TO CURRY WITHOUT FIRST MAKING A CONSTITUTIONALLY MANDATED DETERMINATION OF HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY.

Preservation of Error: The general rule of error preservation is not applicable to void, illegal or procedurally defective sentences. State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994). The sentence in the instant matter is illegal by virtue of the fact that Curry was ordered to pay court costs without any showing that he had the reasonable ability to repay those obligations. (Sent. Tr. p. 8 L11-16; Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 14-16).

The failure of the district court to note reasons for the sentence trigger the appellate court's inability to divine trial court's abuse of, or forbearance from exercising, its discretion.

State v. Thompson, 856 N.W.2d 915, 919 (Iowa 2014).

Standard of Review: This Court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law. When reviewing a restitution order, the appellate court determines whether the district court has properly applied the law. State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010); State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004). The Court's review of constitutional claims is de novo. State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009).

Discussion: The issue raised by Curry is whether the District Court had an affirmative obligation to **preemptively** make a determination regarding his reasonable ability to pay restitution (court costs, attorney fees, jail room and board, etc.) **before** issuing a plan of restitution. A brief history of the current state of the law is provided to help provide the Court with a better understanding of the confusing state of the law.

The Iowa Code establishes how restitution is to be applied in a criminal case. Section 910.2 sets forth when restitution applies:

In all criminal cases in which there is a...verdict of guilty, ...the sentencing court shall order that restitution be made by each offender...

what restitution must be ordered:

to the victims of the offender's criminal activities, to the clerk of court for fines, penalties, surcharges, and, to the extent that the offender is reasonably able to pay, for crime victim assistance reimbursement, ... court costs including correctional fees approved pursuant to section 356.7, court-appointed attorney fees ordered pursuant to section 815.9, including the expense of a public defender...

and how that restitution is to be ordered:

In structuring a plan of restitution, the court shall provide for payments in the following order of priority: victim, fines, penalties, and surcharges, crime victim compensation program reimbursement, public agencies, court costs including correctional fees approved pursuant to section 356.7, court-appointed attorney fees ordered pursuant to section 815.9, including the expense of a public defender, contribution to a local anticrime organization, and the medical assistance program.

Iowa Code § 910.2 (2017) (emphasis added).

Iowa Code section 910.3 discusses how the amount of restitution is determined and when it applies:

The county attorney shall prepare a statement of pecuniary damages to victims of the defendant, and, if applicable, any award by the crime victim compensation program...and shall provide the statement to the presentence investigator or submit

the statement to the court at the time of sentencing. The clerk of court shall prepare a statement of court-appointed attorney fees...including the expense of a public defender, and court costs including correctional fees claimed by a sheriff or municipality pursuant to section 356.7, which shall be provided to the presentence investigator or submitted to the court at the time of sentencing.

If pecuniary damages are not available at the time of sentencing, the county attorney shall provide a statement of pecuniary damages incurred up to that time to the clerk of court. The statement shall be provided no later than thirty days after sentencing.

At the time of sentencing or at a later date to be determined by the court, the court shall set out the amount of restitution...and the persons to whom restitution must be paid. If the full amount of restitution cannot be determined at the time of sentencing, the court shall issue a temporary order determining a reasonable amount for restitution identified up to that time. At a later date as determined by the court, the court shall issue a permanent, supplemental order, setting the full amount of restitution. The court shall enter further supplemental orders, if necessary. These court orders shall be known as the plan of restitution.

Iowa Code § 910.3 (2017) (emphasis added).

Section 910.5 addresses the establishment of a "restitution plan of payment" for individuals committed

"to the custody of the director of the Iowa department of corrections":

- d. ...the director or the director's designee shall prepare a restitution plan of payment or modify any existing plan of payment.
- (1) The new or modified plan of payment shall reflect the offender's present circumstances concerning the offender's income, physical and mental health, education, employment, and family circumstances.
- (2) The director or the director's designee may modify the plan of payment at any time to reflect the offender's present circumstances.

Iowa Code § 910.5 (2017).

Finally, section 910.7 addresses modifications to the plan of restitution or plan of payment:

At any time during the period of probation, parole, or incarceration, the offender or the office or individual who prepared the offender's restitution plan may petition the court on any matter related to the plan of restitution or restitution plan of payment and the court shall grant a hearing if on the face of the petition it appears that a hearing is warranted.

Iowa Code § 910.7 (2017).

In <u>Harrison</u>, the Iowa Supreme Court first addressed the sentencing court's discretion when assessing restitution.

<u>State v. Harrison</u>, 351 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 1984). The Court

discussed the difference between a "plan of restitution", which establishes the amounts and kind of restitution, and a "plan of payment", which is created by the department of corrections.

Id. at 528-29. The Court held that "The order [at the time of sentencing] therefore must include a plan of restitution setting out the amounts and kind of restitution in accordance with the priorities established in 910.2." Id. At 528.

The Court went on to interpret section 910.2 to require "the sentencing court to order restitution in the plan of restitution 'for court costs, court-appointed attorney fees or the expense of a public defender when applicable' only 'to the extent that the offender is reasonably able to [make such restitution]." Id. at 529. Finally, the Court indicated that the reasonable ability to pay is an "express condition on the determination of the amount of restitution for court costs and attorney fees." Id.

The Supreme Court addressed restitution in <u>State v. Janz</u>. <u>State v. Janz</u>, 358 N.W.2d 547 (Iowa 1984). When the court in <u>Janz</u> issued its plan of restitution there was an error

in the amount owed. The issue addressed by the Court was whether Janz could directly appeal the error, or if she needed to apply for relief under 910.7. <u>Id.</u>

The Court held: "If a defendant's time for appeal from the original judgment of conviction and sentence has expired, the defendant must initially obtain a ruling from the district court on a petition for modification before seeking modification on appeal." Id. at 549. The Court further specified in this case "that defendant's appeal from the final judgment was also a permissible appeal from all orders incorporated in that sentence, include the order of restitution here challenged." Id.

In <u>Haines</u>, the Supreme Court addressed a sentencing order that required Haines to pay restitution or perform public service, without a determination as to his reasonable ability to pay. <u>State v. Haines</u>, 360 N.W.2d 791 (Iowa 1985). The Court indicated that "the court must have the facts to determine the appropriate plan of restitution." <u>Id.</u> at 796. The Court went on to emphasize the statute's requirement that the court must

"determine whether the defendant is reasonably able to pay and to sentence accordingly." <u>Id.</u>

In Van Hoff, the defendant filed for a modification of his plan of restitution under section 910.7, claiming he was reasonably unable to pay the total amount. State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647 (Iowa 1987). The Supreme Court, citing to State v. Kaelin, 362 N.W.2d 526, 528 (Iowa 1985), placed the burden upon the defendant "to demonstrate either the failure of the court to exercise discretion or an abuse of that discretion." Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d at 648. In addressing the long-term nature of Van Hoff's incarceration, the Court indicated that reasonableness "is more appropriately based on the inmates ability to pay the current installments than his ability to ultimately pay the total amount due." Id. at 649. In providing further explanation as to this determination of reasonableness, the Court said "These and other future events, all of which would bear on his ability to pay the full amount, are imponderables at the time of the restitution order." Id.

In <u>Alspach</u>, the Court was faced with the issue of when a defendant is entitled to a court-appointed attorney to assist with challenging a plan of restitution. <u>State v. Alspach</u>, 554 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1996). The Court held that a court-appointed attorney is required when a challenge is raised under section 910.3, but not when a modification is requested under 910.7. <u>Id.</u> at 884.

In <u>Blank</u>, the Court addressed the timeliness of a challenge to a plan of restitution. <u>State v. Blank</u>, 570 N.W.2d 924 (Iowa 1997). The Court, in interpreting section 910.3, found that "[c]ourts are permitted under section 910.3 to delay entry of judgment for restitution when, for good cause, restitutionary sums are not ascertainable at the time of sentencing. A defendant, however, is granted no such statutory reprieve." <u>Id</u>. at 926. The Court held:

To be considered an extension of the criminal proceedings, however, the defendant's petition under section 910.7 must be filed within thirty days from the entry of the challenged order. Failing that, or a timely appeal, a *later* action under section 910.7 would still provide an avenue for relief. But the action would be civil, not criminal, in nature.

Id.

<u>Jackson</u> and <u>Swartz</u> were decided on the same day.

<u>State v. Jackson</u>, 601 N.W.2d 354 (Iowa 1999); <u>State v.</u>

<u>Swartz</u>, 601 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 1999). Both cases addressed the issue of when the sentencing court must make a reasonable ability to pay determination. The Court held:

First, it does not appear in the present case that the plan of restitution contemplated by Iowa Code section 910.3 was complete at the time the notice of appeal was filed. Until this is done, the court is not required to give consideration to the defendant's ability to pay. Second, Iowa Code section 910.7 permits an offender who is dissatisfied with the amount of restitution required by the plan to petition the district court for a modification. Unless that remedy has been exhausted, we have no basis for reviewing the issue in this court.

<u>Jackson</u>, 601 N.W.2d at 357 (citations omitted; emphasis added).

The Court in <u>Goodrich</u> again reasserted the constitutional requirement that "a court must determine a criminal defendant's reasonable ability to pay **before** entering an order requiring such defendant to pay criminal restitution

pursuant to Iowa Code section 910.2." Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)(emphasis added).

In <u>Jose</u>, the Court was faced with the question of what defendant should do to challenge a plan of restitution when it is ordered after the notice of appeal has been filed. <u>State v. Jose</u>, 636 N.W.2d 38 (Iowa 2001). The Court attempted to distinguish <u>Jose</u> from <u>Swartz</u> and <u>Jackson</u> when it stated "The ability to pay is an issue apart from the amount of restitution and is therefore not an 'order [] incorporated in the sentence' and is therefore not directly appealable as such." <u>Id.</u> at 45; <u>See also State v. Campbell</u>, No. 15-1181, 2016 WL 4543763, at *2 nt. 2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2017). Further clarifying, the Court stated:

Here, Jose challenges the *amount* of restitution, whereas in *Swartz* and *Jackson* the defendants only challenged the district court's failure to determine their *ability to pay*. The defendants in *Swartz* and *Jackson* were therefore challenging the 'restitution plan of payment,' rather than the actual 'plan of restitution'. Iowa Code § 910.7. At issue here is the plan of restitution, rather than the plan of payment.

Id. The Court also distinguished this case from Janz indicating "This case, however, is not a Janz case because the restitution was not part of the sentencing order." Id. at 47 (emphasis added). The Court remanded the case allowing Jose to obtain court-appointed counsel for a restitution hearing, if Jose filed the petition within 30-day of the Court's opinion. Id.

In <u>Dudley</u>, the Court was faced with the issue of assessing court costs against a defendant who was acquitted. <u>State v. Dudley</u>, 766 N.W.2d 606 (Iowa 2009). The Court held that "[a] cost judgment may not be constitutionally imposed on a defendant unless a determination is first made that the defendant is or will be reasonably able to pay the judgment." Id. at 615.

In <u>Jenkins</u>, the Court addressed the issue of the discretion of the sentencing court to determine a causal connection between restitution costs assessed and the defendant. <u>State v. Jenkins</u>, 788 N.W.2d 640 (Iowa 2010). The Court found that procedural due process related to restitution orders requires notice and an opportunity to be

heard. <u>Id.</u> at 646. The Court also indicated that section 910.7 should not be used as a remedy for failure to provide appropriate due process because "this is a postdeprivation remedy where a hearing is a discretionary matter, not a matter of right. In addition, an offender is not entitled to appointed counsel as a matter of right." <u>Id.</u> at 646-647.

Finally, in <u>Coleman</u>, the sentencing court assessed appellate attorney fees against Coleman for the full amount unless Coleman requested a hearing regarding his reasonable ability to pay. <u>State v. Coleman</u>, --N.W.2d --, 2018 WL 672132 (Iowa Feb. 2, 2018). The Court did not specifically address the issue because the case was being remanded on different grounds; however, the Court stated:

Nonetheless, when the district court assesses any future attorney fees on Coleman's case, it must follow the law and determine the defendant's reasonable ability to pay the attorney fees without requiring him to affirmatively request a hearing on his ability to pay.

Id. at *16 (emphasis added).

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