IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1351

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs. STEPHON TRAVELL CURRY, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JOHNSON COUNTY THE HONORABLE PAUL D. MILLER AND KEVIN MCKEEVER, JUDGES

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

KELLI HUSER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) kelli.huser2@ag.iowa.gov

JANET LYNESS Johnson County Attorney

JUDE PANNELL Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. Curry's Restitution Claim is Not Ripe and Not Directly Appealable. Existing Iowa Precedent is Sound and Does Not Permit This Claim at This Time.

Preservation of Error

In limited circumstances, an appellate court may consider the defendant's challenge to restitution absent the district court's ruling on the issue. *See State v. Janz*, 358 N.W.2d 547, 547-48 (Iowa 1984); *but see State v. Tanner*, 2016 WL 4384468, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016) ("We question whether that relaxed standard should allow a defendant to fail to present facts on an issue that requires the court to consider certain facts in the exercise of its discretion, then complain on appeal the court failed to consider facts the defendant failed to present.").

Standard of Review

This Court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law. *State v. Jose*, 636 N.W.2d 38, 43 (Iowa 2001). When reviewing a restitution order, the Court "determine[s] whether the court's findings lack substantial evidentiary support, or whether the court has not properly applied the law." *State v. Bonstetter*, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001).

Merits

Curry asks this Court to find for the first time that the district court must consider a defendant's reasonable ability to pay his restitution before the district court knows the amount of restitution. This Court should find the defendant's claim is not ripe because there is no plan of restitution. This Court should also find the defendant has failed to exhaust his remedies because he has not moved under Iowa Code section 910.7 to modify a plan of restitution or plan of payment.

If this Court declines to dismiss Curry's restitution claim on those grounds, this Court should apply existing Iowa law. It is sound and logical that the district court must know the amount the defendant owes before it can determine the defendant's reasonable ability to pay this amount.

A. Curry's claim is not ripe when there is no plan of restitution.

Curry's ability-to-pay claim is not properly before this Court because it is not yet ripe. "If a claim is not ripe for adjudication, a court is without jurisdiction to hear the claim and must dismiss it." *Iowa Coal Min. Co., Inc. v. Monroe County*, 555 N.W.2d 418, 432 (Iowa 1996).

A district court is not required to consider a defendant's reasonable ability to pay until "the plan of restitution contemplated by Iowa Code section 910.3 [i]s complete " State v. Jackson, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999); State v. Campbell, No. 15-1181, 2016 WL 4543763, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2016) (stating that the sentencing court is not required to consider the defendant's ability to pay until it has issued "the order constituting the plan of restitution"). Until that obligation is triggered, a defendant's challenge on abilityto-pay grounds is premature. See Jackson, 601 N.W.2d at 357 (stating that it was precluded from granting the defendant the relief he sought). Further, it may be an abuse of discretion for the sentencing court to determine the reasonable ability to pay without a reasonable estimate of the restitution owed and without any evidentiary support for the finding. See Campbell, 2016 WL 4543763, at *4 (reversing the district court's finding of reasonable ability to pay when the district court did not have even a reasonable estimate of the restitution owed and no evidentiary support for the finding).

At the time of Curry's appeal, his plan of restitution was not complete. The district court had ordered that Curry pay court costs and attorney fees, but it did not include even a temporary amount of

costs or fees in its sentencing order. Judgment and Sentence; App. 14-15. Nor had it entered any supplemental orders setting forth the amounts of these costs and fees. Curry's claim is not yet ripe when the district court has not completed a plan of restitution. Therefore, this Court should dismiss his reasonable-ability-to-pay claim on ripeness grounds.

B. Curry's claim is not properly exhausted because he has not challenged his ability to pay under Iowa Code section 910.7.

Even if Curry's claim was ripe, his restitution claim should be dismissed because Curry has failed to file a motion under Iowa Code section 910.7. Iowa Code section 910.7 is the mechanism the legislature has provided to defendants to modify the plan of restitution or plan of payment. Iowa Code § 910.7. Until a defendant petitions the district court for modification, he is not entitled to directly appeal the district court's finding on the reasonable ability to pay. *State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999) (declining to grant relief on a defendant's ability-to-pay challenge where the plan of restitution was not yet complete and the defendant had not yet petitioned the district court for modification under Iowa Code section 910.7); *State v. Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d 609, 626 (Iowa 2017)

(reaffirming *Jackson*'s principle "that ability-to-pay challenges to restitution are premature until the defendant has exhausted the modification remedy afforded by Iowa Code section 910.7").

Until Curry exhausts his remedies under Iowa Code section 910.7, his claim is not directly appealable. This Court should dismiss Curry's restitution claim.

C. The defendant's restitution claim fails on the merits under existing Iowa precedent. This precedent is sound and logical.

Curry makes two restitution arguments on appeal. First, he asks this Court to hold that sentencing courts have an "affirmative obligation to preemptively" determine a defendant's reasonable ability to pay court costs, attorney fees, and jail room and board "before issuing a plan of restitution." *See* Appellant's Brief at 10 & 14 (emphasis omitted). Because it did not follow this rule, Curry argues, the district court in this case erred. Alternatively, Curry contends that the district court's sentencing order did include a plan of restitution and a restitution plan of payment, thus triggering the court's obligation to determine whether Curry had the reasonable ability to pay court costs and attorney fees. *See* Appellant's Brief at 43-44. If this Court declines to dismiss Curry's restitution claim on ripeness or

appealability grounds, existing Iowa precedent is thorough, sound, and logical to deny Curry's claim on the merits.

 Iowa precedent does not require a district court to determine the defendant's reasonable ability to pay before knowing how much restitution is at issue.

Restitution is mandatory in every criminal case in which the defendant is found or pleads guilty. Iowa Code § 910.2(1). The sentencing court is required to order pecuniary damages to the defendant's victims and to the clerk for fines, penalties, and surcharges. Iowa Code §§ 910.1(3) & (4), 910.2(1). To the extent the defendant is reasonably able to pay, the court must also impose other payments such as contributions to a local anticrime organization, reimbursements to the crime victim compensation program, restitution to public agencies, court costs including correctional fees, and court-appointed attorney fees. Iowa Code § 910.2(1). If the court finds that the defendant is unable to pay certain costs and fees, it may instead order that the defendant perform community service. Iowa Code § 910.2(2).

Everyone involved in the criminal case has a role in compiling the restitution figures. The county attorney is tasked with providing the court with "a statement of pecuniary damages to victims of the defendant" Iowa code § 910.3. If the amount is not available at the time of sentencing, the county attorney has thirty days after that date to provide the statement to the court. Iowa Code §910.3. It is the clerk of court's job to provide the court with a statement of courtappointed attorney fees and court costs including correctional fees. *Id*.

At sentencing or "at a later date to be determined by the court," the sentencing court is required to "set out the amount of restitution. ... and the persons to whom restitution must be paid." *Id.* (emphasis added). "If the full amount of restitution cannot be determined at the time of sentencing, the court shall issue a temporary order determining a reasonable amount for restitution identified up to that time." *Id.* The court must then "issue a permanent, supplemental order, setting the full amount of restitution[,]" and "further supplemental orders, if necessary." Id. Together, these orders are "known as the plan of restitution." Id.; see State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 528 (Iowa 1984) (stating that a restitution order "must include a plan of restitution setting out the amounts and kind of restitution in accordance with the priorities established in section 910.2").

"After sentencing in which a plan of restitution is ordered, the next step is establishing a plan of payment." *Harrison*, 351 N.W.2d at 528. The plan of payment is a schedule of payments that will allow the defendant to carry out the plan of restitution. *Id*. When a defendant is incarcerated, the director of the Iowa department of corrections is required to "prepare a restitution plan of payment or modify any existing plan of payment." Iowa Code § 910.5(1)(d). Unlike when a defendant is placed on probation, however, an incarcerated defendant's "plan of payment is not initially made subject to court approval or change." *See Harrison*, 351 N.W.2d at 528-29 (comparing Iowa Code sections 910.4 and 910.5).

Nevertheless, at any time during the defendant's probation, parole, or incarceration, the defendant "may petition the court on any matter related to the plan of restitution or restitution plan of payment and the court shall grant a hearing" if one is warranted. Iowa Code § 910.7(1). The court may modify the plan of restitution or plan of payment, or both. *Id.* § 910.7(2).

At issue here is the sentencing court's finding—or lack thereof—of Curry's reasonable ability to pay the costs of the action, court costs including sheriff's fees, and attorney fees. The parties agree that the

sentencing court is constitutionally required to make an ability-to-pay finding. *See Goodrich v. State*, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000) (stating that "[t]he 'reasonably able to pay' requirement enables section 910.2 to withstand constitutional attack"); Appellant's Brief at 26. But the parties disagree on when the court is required to make that determination.

Under Iowa case law, the sentencing court "is not required to give consideration to the defendant's ability to pay" until "the plan of restitution contemplated by Iowa Code section 910.3 [i]s complete" *Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357; *Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d at 354. In the case of a defendant serving a term of imprisonment, the court's determination of whether the defendant is reasonably able to pay costs and fees "is more appropriately based on [his] ability to pay the current installments than his ability to ultimately pay the total amount due." *State v. Van Hoff*, 415 N.W.2d 647, 649 (Iowa 1987).

If at the time of sentencing, the district court has at least a temporary amount of restitution identified up to that time, it should determine whether the defendant has the reasonable ability to pay that amount. *See* Iowa Code §§ 910.2 & 910.3. Upon the entry of each

supplemental restitution order comprising the plan of restitution, the district court should revisit its reasonable-ability-to-pay finding.

But the defendant does not have the right to be heard on the reasonable-ability-to-pay issue before the district court issues each supplemental restitution order. See Appellant's Brief at 31-37. The statute and the constitution simply do not require that. The constitution requires only that the State not place a financial obligation on the exercise of a constitutional right—such as the right to counsel—without tailoring it to whether a person can meet that obligation. Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 54 (1974); State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985) (relying on Fuller to recognize the "reasonable ability to pay" standard can survive constitutional attack). That the tailoring happen before the district court has any idea how much money is at issue is not a constitutional requirement. Nor does the statute require the district court to evaluate the defendant's reasonable ability to pay prior to knowing how much restitution is sought.

This is logical. It makes little sense for a district court to evaluate a defendant's ability to pay a nonexistent amount of money. Instead, the district court must know how much money is at issue to

decide whether the defendant's income and life circumstances will permit him to pay that amount over some period of time.

Curry proposes solutions to a nonexistent problem. He is not prevented from attacking his reasonable ability to pay under the Iowa law. He can challenge his reasonable ability to pay after the district court enters a restitution order identifying the amount. At that time, he can articulate why he is unable to reasonably pay that amount based on actual numbers. See, e.g., State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987) (recognizing that the defendant believed restitution of \$16,500 was unreasonable because it would take him 92 years to pay his restitution at his current level of income). And, depending on when he decides to attack the order, he can have counsel to help him do so. See Iowa Code §§ 910.3 & 910.7; State v. Blank, 570 N.W.2d 924, 926 (Iowa 1997) (holding that, to be considered an extension of the criminal proceeding, a defendant's "petition under section 910.7 must be filed within thirty days from the entry of the challenged order"). See State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 46-47 (Iowa 2001) (discussing State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1996) and Blank). In sum, a defendant seeking to challenge an abilityto-pay finding made at sentencing or through supplemental

restitution orders has adequate remedies without the solutions Curry suggests.

2. There is not a plan of restitution in place at this time.

Alternatively, Curry argues that the district court erred by not making a reasonable-ability-to-pay finding because there was a plan of restitution in place. Again, Curry's claim has no merit.

There cannot be a complete or even a temporary restitution plan without a court order setting forth the amount and type of restitution ordered. See Iowa Code § 910.3 (requiring that "the court shall set out the amount of restitution[,]" either at sentencing or in "a permanent, supplemental order, setting the full amount of restitution"). Although the county attorney, clerk of court, public defender, and sheriff or municipality each has a role in compiling the numbers, the statute plainly requires that the court issue restitution orders setting forth the amount of restitution. See id. The district court may order these amounts in its sentencing order, or at a later time in supplemental orders. See id. Either way, however, the amount is not enforceable against the defendant until the district court makes it part of an order. See Campbell, 2016 WL 4543763, at *3 n.4) (questioning "the propriety of sending an account to collections

before the court has completed the plan of restitution and determined the total amount due").

Without a supplemental restitution order imposing these costs, these costs are not a part of the plan of restitution. *See State v. Martin*, No. 11-0914, 2013 WL 4506163, at *2 & n.3 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2013) (stating that where the sentencing order contains no restitution amounts and there are no supplemental orders, "no restitution has been ordered" and "there is nothing for [the defendant] to challenge"). And without a plan of restitution, the district court did not yet have an obligation to determine whether Curry had the reasonable ability to pay those amounts. Indeed, a finding without at least "an estimate of the total amount of restitution" is "premature and lack[s] evidentiary support." *See Campbell*, 2016 WL 4543763, at *4.

At most, this Court should affirm with instructions for the district court to enter a final plan of restitution setting forth the restitution amounts. *See Campbell*, 2016 WL 4543763, at *4. At that point, the district court should determine whether Curry has the reasonable ability to pay the full amount or whatever installments it imposes. *See id.*; *see also Van Hoff*, 415 N.W.2d at 648. If Curry

"believes the forthcoming plan of restitution does not reflect his reasonable ability to pay, he may petition the district court for modification under Iowa Code section 910.7. *See Campbell*, 2016 WL 4543763, at *4.

II. The District Court Properly Exercised its Discretion During Sentencing.

Preservation of Error

A defendant may challenge sentencing errors on direct appeal without objecting in the district court. *See State v. Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010).

Standard of Review

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